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THE HOBOKEN ORAL HISTORY PROJECT

TNTERVIEWEE: JOAN CIJNNTNG
with Dan Cunning

INTERVIEWBRS: BOB FOSTER & HOLLY MBTZ

LOCATION: 5 CHURCI.I TOWBRS, HOBOKBNI NJ

Session #1

HM: We're starting from the beginning. When

were you born, and where !,/ere you born?

JC: f was born in St. Maryns HospJ"tal,

05/20/36. I was brought. home to 256 Sixth Street, and I

think f was eleven months o1d when we went to the Terrace

(Willow Terrace). We went to seventeen first. We lived in

seventeen for about eight years; then we moved next door, to

fifteen. ILaughs]

HM: And why did you move?

JC: Wel-l, we moved because my mother loved

o

a

the bathroom the lady had next door. She had a tile
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bathroom, and off-switches. Everybody else had pull-strings.

And, I guess, the price was right.

HM: And how many -- well, in the birth order,

where were you with your siblings?

JC: I'm the sixth,

HM: You're the sixth. And how many more were

there after you? Were you the last born?

JC: No. There was my sister, Marietta, Seven.

My mother had seven children.

HM: Can you name, for me, the sibli-ngs before

you?

JC: James; John (they're all- deceased) ; Gerry

(it.'s real1y Gerald) ;

Ilene flrst.

Eileen was first. T should have put

HM: Eileen before James.

2

o

o

JC: Yes
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HM: That's four. One more. Ilene; James;

John; Gerald (Gerry).

last one is

Marietta come from? The name.

JC: Virginia

I-lM: Virginia' s last .

JC: No. Mariettars last.

HM: Ah. Okay. Virginia, and then you, and the

JC: Marietta.

HM: That's an interesting name. Where did

JC

HM

I don't know,

ft's sort of exotic.

a

Okay. So did your parents both work?
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JC: My father was a fireman. He went on in

1930, and continued.

HM: And your mother was a homemaker?

JC: Yes.

HM: Were your parents born in Hoboken?

JC: Yes. Both of them

HM: And what about their parents? I'm just

trying to see how far your Hoboken roots are.

JC: In 1BBB, fty grandmother, my mother's

mother. She always said the year of the big storm, t-he big

bL:.zzard.

HM: So 1BBB was the year that what happened?

JC: Bridget came from Ireland.

o
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HM: Bridget came from freland. And that's

your mother's mother. Your grandmother. What was her last

name?

JC: Her maiden name?

o HM:

HM:

JC:

HM:

Jes. Was she married when she came?

No. Connolly. Itrs spelled different.

And where was she from, in freland.

Mayo. County Mayo.

So she came to Hoboken. Did she come to

o

Hoboken first?

JC: Yes.

HM: And do you know why she came to Hoboken?

JC: She and her slster came together. Mary

Her sister, Mary. And they worked, really, as domestics. My

o

grandmother was what they called "the upstairs girl. " She
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happened to marry the boss of the house a big joke when

werre all together, the family.

RF: Upstairs/Downstalrs.

HM: And she married the boss.

JC: She married the "man of the house, " I

guess you'd call it.

HM: Okay. So Bridget came, and where did she

work?

JC: I think it was '732 Park Avenue. There was

one family then. The family. His t*1fe died.

HM:

JC:

HM:

JC:

And the name of the man she married?

James L. Roarty.

Why did he need an upstairs girl?

It was a private house. They were very

o

weal-thy, I think.



)

D

he was

HM: So he wasn't the head of the household,

JC: Yes, he was.

HM: Oh, he was.

JC: f can't think of what they cal.l them now.

D

,

D

t

HM

Jt

HM

Did he have children?

He had children. He had other chil-dren.

So he was a widower. He had children, and
a

a

o

o

lhat's why he needed her to he1p. How many children dj.ci he

have?

JC: That I know of, that l1ved ** Mary, John,

Steve. f think he had five children, and I think three

lived. Then my mother -* he was like sixty-five when my

mother was born. Sixty-three or sixty-five. Yes. Because he

had chi-ldren with her, then. She was supposed to have been a

beautiful redhead, my grandmother.

Cunning*1,*1
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HM: Okay. So she came during the blizzard.

Did you hear stories, her impressions of Hoboken?

JC: Living in Hoboken. She llved across the

street, there, between Park and Wi.llow, and she didn't let a

dog pass her house. That was her domain.

HM: So she was a very conscientious

homemaker.

JC: And she took care of everything. When her

husband died, she had boarders and stuff like that.

HM: And he died when? llnterruption] I would

like to have a calligrapher do a family chart for you. If we

do it, it will be a big foldout. That's part of the reason

we wanted to interview you -- because your family goes so

far back.

JC: f have a friend who has a tree as big as

these funclearl.

a

HM: I tike the idea of a river.
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JC: The river would be nice the Hudson

HM: Exactly. Good. A11 right.

DC: This is early. That's 1898.

HM: Oh, Kroger. Okay. At some point f'm going

is this something I can take, or is this your only

9

River,

to ask

copy.

DC: You can probably take it for a couple of

weeks.

JC: ff you need to borrow

HM: Of course. Just so I can get t-he names*-

DC: Let me show you where you're at. You're

at IUnclear] and Grand Street, you're talking about, right?

No?

o

JC: No.
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Here's my mom,

The house is there. [cross talk. ]

she was very old when he came. He was a

student from Iunclear] .

HM: Okay. So that's your grandmother. Now we

should talk about your mother and father.

JC: Not about my oLher grandmother?

HM: Vfellr we should do the otLier sj-de.

JC: That ' s okay. They' re nclt around.

lLaughterl

HM: No, go ahead. If you have a story to tell

me about them, you should tell me. Let's do the other side.

Do you have stories to tell me about lhe other side?

JC: Well, I think she was a housewife, too.

o

They lived here in Hol:oken
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HM; Where did she ]ive? Do you know?

JC: She was from downtown. St. Joseph's

parish. That's how they talked.

HM: Because Hoboken used to be divided

uptown/downtown, east and west, ds opposed to how they say

it now, as north and south.

Her name was * ?

JC: Her maiden name was Olinda Tostain. fl's

spelled here correctly, someplace.

HM: And she came from where?

JC: lloboken,

I'lM: So she was born in Hoboken.

JC: T think so. Yes. She told me she was

christened i-n Hoboken.a

a
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HM: And her family what a wonderfu] name,

OIinda. So her parents she's an earlier generatj-on. And

her parents came from lreland?

Werre not telling, We only found out.

Erance.

I said that's why my mother never talked

about it

HM: Wel1, thatrs interesting.

.IC: And she marri-ed John Smith

HM: She married John Smith. And where was he

from?

JC: Hoboken. He was born at 632 Wil-l.ow.

HM: And where were his people from John

UU

DC

UL

Smith.

DC: Ireland. Right?
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JC: Thatrs right.

DC: There may have been a generation here. My

wlfe explained all this stuff to me, and I forget

everythlng. John Henry Smith.

HM: Right"

DC: Yes. I think she miqht have lunclear-

eloped?l wlth him.

JC: Wait. My grandfather came ttrey left

from Liverpool, England, and they said he was a farmer, and

she was a spinster. It said so right on the papers. But we

had that fire in Hoboken, in the Terrace that time

and lost a 1ot

That-'s how they left it; that she was a

HM

Lj t-

spinster.

o

O

what papers?

HM: So it said that she was a spinster on
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,JC: On the papers that they came into, in

thls country. Yes.

HM: But they didn't come j-n togethe::.

JC: Yes, they did. He was a farmer. Yes. I

got to tell" you, my kids have a lot of jokes about that.. My

brothers not these kids. ILaughs]

HM: But it's so strange. Why would they --?

Hmm. That's interesting.

JC: Well, a lot of people came from Ireland

through Live::pool

HM: Oh, that parL doesn't surprise me

JC: Maybe we all met l*here.

HM: Well, f liked the French part. It makes

it a little bit more complicated. Also,

te::ms of cr:ossing ethnic lines there

people want to admit.

T think, just in

was more of i.t than

o
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JC: fLrs unbelievable.

DC: They have better records, too, the

French.

HM: Well, a name like John Smith is a little

hard to track. lCross talk] You couldn't you get a more

common name than John Smlth.

DC: You have eighty ,John Smiths born a day.

HM: Exactly. So let's go back to Willow

Terrace. You were bornr you saidn in 1936.

Right.

It was the Great Depression.

We didn't know. My father was a fireman.

We Lhought we were rich.

HM: Well, probably, comparatively speaking,

riU

HM

.TC

o

because he had a job.
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JC: Exactly. Yes.

HM: And do you have memories of what it was

like for your neighbors. You felt you were rich, so you must

have noticed that other people didn't have work.

JC: In the Terrace, I don't know anybody who

didnrl work. We had a lot of policemen on the piers and the

railroad. A lot of them worked on Lhe railroad. Like

funclear] a lot of people working at City Hal]

secretaries and stuff Iike that.

RF: Can you remember some of the other family

names on the block?

JC: Oh, sure. Sure. My best friend

Pendrick. We were raj-sed together. Her maiden name

HM: And where did she l-ive?

is Mary

was Duff.

o

o

JC: Across the street. She lived at 25.
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HM: We live in a little Terrace house. At one

point you had nine people llving in a Terrace house?

JC: Yes.

DC: Ten after the fire.

JC: No, no. We're talking about my family

my brothers and sisters.

HM: So you had nine living in t.here?

JC: We had nine living in the house, and

sometimes !{e had two grandmothers with us.

flM: And how did this work?

JC: You know, it's funny. I guess when we

I had a brother i.n the army. He was in the Philippines. The

go. But the girls

reason my mother

o

a

were little, w€ didn't notice it at all. But as teenaqiers

other one was in Germany. They'd come and

always had the top floor. That was another

o

bought the house; they had built out t,he back. I think it
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was the first one that went straight up. But honest t.o god,

there was never anyone laying on a couch or anything.

HM: But dld you share a bed?

a bed. The boys

HM:

Oh, yeah. Oh, sur:e.

So how many in a bed?

Viell, there were four girls. We each had

the back bedr:oom had a big bed. Like I

o

o
say, once T can't remember.

HM: Probably, ds you got o"l-der ** people

started to leave by the time they were teenagers, or

JC: They

married. Nobody left the

lived in that house until they got

house until they got married.

That's the way it

when I sold it. I

was, That's why f didnft

didn't want them saying,

show my house

"You had seven

kicis in here?!" No way. That would annoy me.

HM: So when you had dinner, did you all eat

o

dinner together?
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father was coming

Positively. Dinner was a big Lhing. If my

home at 5:00, then that was dinner. But

the shifts, then, they were doing seventy-two hours.

HM: He must have just come home and gone to

sleep

DC: Back then you worked twenty*four, At 8:00

in the morning, you were either leaving work or comlng to

work. That was it.

JC: They did a twenty-four cyc1e.

DC: One oor one off, one off, and then an

extra "Ke1}y" day, they would call it, built in once a week

JC

a

OT SO.

JC: But that was after they worked seventy-

two. Then they got the sixty-two. Somebody was prol:ably

crib in thealways in my mother's bed. There was always a

roorn. They always had a

a crib in the pictures,

crib. When I got- married, there was

for god's sake.

a
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HM: Frequently, people sdy, if you have a lot

of children, the oldest girl acts as the mom.

We were very close.

So she looked after the younger ones?

JC: We}l, my mother never left the house. fn

the Terrace, you put the baby outside the door, in the

carriage or playpen, and you went about your business. If

anything happened, somebody knocked on the door and said,

"Helen, the baby's crying." Even my children were raised

like that. Nobody came through there that didn't belong

there. They just wouldn't do that.

HM: So, in a sense, the Terrace itself the

front, we'.re talking about the front of the house

JC: Yes.

HM: -- was like everyone's llving room. And

U\-

HM

a

a

a

everybody looked out for everyi:ody else.
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.lC: Nobody locked the door. We had screen

doors in the sufiirner. No air*conditioning. The door would be

open.

HM: And what kind of games? You played on the

street, I assume.

JC: I did.

What kinds of games did you play?

carriages. Iadds

: The glrls were with do1ls and dofl

later: hopscotch, jump-ropel The boys, they

could wander a little bit. They played ball

RF: Did people have cars?

JC: They parked their car where it belonqed,

and you wouldn't dare dare *- even if they went away for

a month, you would not take that spot. It got troublesome

with us, because my children had cars. I tried to keep it

f 'd sdy, "Don't put your car in here, and don't -*'r But

other people did it. They'd have three cars in a row.

HM

JC

a
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RF: The cars are bigger now, and they're

renters.

JC: Oh, yeah. But we didn't let you in. We

had that barricade up. You did not get in. I mean, in the

street, everybody was out. On a ni-ce day, everybody was out.

You ran back and forth, and if a car came :ln, every mother

got up, opened the gate, and got your own children in place.

ft was a wonderful place.

o

o

o

My neighbor across

was sick *- Mr. Hitzler ** and f

(this one), and he'd say, "I got

the street was a man. He

opened Lhe

it, Joan, "

door for Danny

and herd t-ake

the sunny side.that baby in the sun -* because they were on

When he'd come back, herd say, "I think he needs a bottle."

That's how people were. You could get a bah,ysil-ter in a

minute,

I'lM: And you needed one. I can't imagine how

your mother

JC: My mother was great.

o

HM: How did she shop f ar foocl?
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JC: She sent us, f can remember going to the

store. Like now, with Hannah *-

avenue. They live on Bloomfield,

they }et her go to the

so she goes around the

corner. f sdy, "Oh, don't let her up there alclne. "o

o

to the A&P on

And they

Sixtir andgo, "What?!" flaughter] But we went

Washingt.on, and we had no wagon. We

packages, rfle and my sister. We did

That's the way it was.

carried back the

that four times a week.

HM: And laundry?

JC: f had a washer and dryer. The first one,

the dryer went in the bedroom. ft had to be elec'tric, and

the plugs covered up the wall and a1l. We used to hang out

on the big house, 314. My mother was 3l-5, so the line went

down to the end of the thing. New people came in and dropped

the lines. WeIl it was like a war! But, like I said, my

mother on the lines all the time. We all knew how to hang

up the clothes, and bring them in.

But when f moved in, I got a dryer.

HM: WelI , tf you think about- it, that's a l-ot

of diapers. They didn't have Pampers, so she's always

hanging stuff up.

o
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a

o

JC: Yes. All the time.

RE: And were you the largest family on the

bl-ock?

DC: Oh, yes.

JC: Yes. Yes. Yes, we were. I think "Clancy"

had three, next to me -- next to my mother. WelI, the Earls,

next door to me they had seven children. They were raised

there. Mr. Earl, I was next, Lhen his niece lived next

Sissy *- and then Grace Earl, and across the street was Mary

Duff, ily girlfriend. That was a whole little community,

Everybody was ::elated.

HM: T had heard that, before we moved j-n

that a 1ot of times families would grow, then they woul-d

move down the l-ine of the Terrace.

DC: My Aunt Marietta her sister and my

unc1e, Steve Earl, got marr:ied

a

JC: That was convenient..
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DC: so t.he whole neiqhborhood

HM related. Once removed.

JC: My slster, Virginia, had her house there.

She was there a good five years before they moved out. So it

was her, rTre r and my mother.

RF: Do you remember when like you had a

back yard. But we'd often hear that there was actually an

alley that ran right down the middle of the back yards,

which, because

JC: Wood sheds,

RF: like for ash; for people to put the

ash out, from the stoves. No? You didn't.

.lC: Because we had a coal stove, and those

ashes you pulled out yourself. Even when they came, they

came with big bags on them, and dumped them in the last

room. It was a shed, really. ft was a pretty decent shed,

o

though. My father was very handy. But we would go down, werd
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in there, and get a bucket up for my mother to t.ake in

kitchen. Like I say, my father worked all t.he time. They

always 1n the firehouse. When he wasn't he could

paint. We always had a nice, nice home. We always did.

jump

the

were

come,

would

o

HM: So the coal the coal- delivery would

they would dump just a big pile of coal, and then you

take it, with buckets

o

JC; No, they came

HM: The coal guys.

JC: *- wj.th buckets on their backs, and

dumped it in the hole, in the bln. Then when we needed it

but there was never an alley back there. We had a lot that

everybody played in, but I built r:ight. out to the end, when

I got there.

DC: Right. There was a short yard, then a

shed, and then there were maybe five or si-x deep, and then

over the years, you would just have

o

a

HNI filllng it in
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o

RF: So people could not walk through the

backs, contlnuously.

JC: No. You could pass the bott.les of beer

over the fence. We'd have parties, and yourd be filting the

pitchers down the Iyard. ]

HM: Where did the beer come from? Where did

the barrels of beer come from?

JC: You'd put them in the yard, and ice them.

HM: But from a neighborhood tavern?

JC: Probably Mike Drs.

HM: Now where was that?

JC: On Sixth and Wi]Iow. Mike D's. Around the

corner

a

a

DC: It's IPeter' s l{air Salon] now
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HM: Maybe this is hard to sdy, but the people

who lived in the Terrace they owned 'l-heir houses. Right?

JC: Yes.

HM: So were they considered better off than

people who lived downtown, [most] of whom were ::enters?

JC: We didn't go downtownl lI,aughs]

HM: Because you dldn't mj-x with 2

JC: The first Terrace was all lrish. The

second was Irish and Italian. The third, we never even

f 'm not kidding, Not that we didn't talk to yoll/ but tiratf s

how it was

HM: So the Trish and ]talian mix, tliat

Terrace you're saying that the all*lrish Terrace, maybe

they would mi"x with the Irish*Itallan mix?

a
li l

Cunninq-1*?B

JC: Everybody got along.
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HM: You're saying, then, that there was

another

JC:

shouldn't say that.

there god, yes.

can't think of any

Seventh Street. ft wasn't

Ifve got friends there.

The Gills, the Bnglishes,

the same. I

They're lrish

the Cannings. I

HM: Well, 1'L might not be because of

background; it might just be because they weren't your

immediate neighbors.

JC: Yes. Oh, it had nothing to do with

background. Nothing at all.

HM: So it's really, really local. It's sort

of like you have enough friends. The Terrace ** they're

tight, there are a lot of people. So why go

JC: I can remember a rnan falling down the

stairs and belng killed on the stairs. My father went over

there, and they cal-led everybody. Everything was taken care

of. They b,rought her over to the house and we had tea. ft

a
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was that way. Everybody got into everybody's business. If

a party, you invited everybody. There was no such

you wouldnrt invite your neighbor.

you had

thing as

HM: But what I was getting at before, in

terms of downtown .-* frm not saying that it's a bad thing

but. I would assume that the people who owned their houses

Ilived differently because they had more money. ] fs that

truer or not. true?

JC: I donrt know

HM: Like you went to school with kids from

downtown.

JC: I'm sure the ki-ds that went to school

from downtown they probably owned their houses.

HM: So you thj,nk they were lmost.ly]

homeowners, too?

JC: Oh, I think there were a lot of

t

a

homeowners, yes.
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RE: And when you say Terrace #1, #2, and #3,

where do you start from? Seventh Street?

JC: No.

RF: No. From your Terrace.

JC: Number one "there ILaug'hter]It

RF: Okay. I just wanted to be sure

DC: IUnclear] is the third Terrace.

HM: And what school did you go to?

JC: Our Lady of Grace.

HM: And that's your church, too.

JC: Yes.

HM: And your girlfriends, your best friend

o

from across the street, also went to
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JC: -* Our Lady of Grace. I went to Demarest

for high school, she went to St. Michael's, in the city. She

probably was the rich one. I didnlt really think that

Ilaughs ] , but-

HM: To pay for high school.

JC: You pay whether you're rich or not, Lf

you want your kids in a good school.

HM: Itrs true.

DC: There was no tuition was there?

JC: Where?

DC: In the high schools and stuff.

JC: Oh, sure there was.

HM: Not Demarest. At a public high school

there was no tuition

o

a
JC: No. Later on. Later on

a
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o

RF: At Catholic school, there is now tuition.

HM: Yes. And before you got to hlgh school,

when you were in middle schoo-I, the::e was no tuition.

DC:

or first grade

tuition. Then Iike

Right. Kindergarten through eighth grade

to eighth grade, dt OLG, there was no

maybe sixth or seventh grade, you had to

that. That's how itstart with $10 a month or something like

started. The church supported everything.

HM: Which is incredible.

DC: Yes. When you think about three grades of

first grade, thr:ee kindergartens, three eighth girades

HM: And taughL b,y priests or nuns?

JC: Both. Charity nuns. The Sisters of

Charit-y.

o

HM: Who lived in town, right?
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JC: Yes. They lived in the convent.

HM: That really is amazing -* it's just such

a different world, when you think about it. And they wore

habits. Before Vatican II

DC: Yes.

expected that you

You just respected them, and i-t was

did. There was no such --

HM: AIso, for women, in lerms of advancement,

being a teacher they were very good at what they did.

That was a high accomplishment.

RF: And the penmanship.

JC: I stil1 do Palmer.

RF: Do you remember some of the prominent

people involved with Our Lady of Grace? Llke some of the

early priests, or some of the siste::, in particular, or the

people who ran the school-?

U\-

o

o

o

a
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O

o

o

o

o

JC: oh, yes. We had Monsignor Masterson (I

don't know what his flrst name was), and we had Father

Coy1e, Father Hessian, Father Brennan. lMasterson]-that.'s

t.he only monsignor f remember.

DC: Was Father Meehan a monsignor?

JC: I donrt think so

DC: FIe retired a monsignor.

JC: Then they didn't make them so quick.

DC: He was like a real [retired Navy]

military-type quy. He was something.

JC: I'm trying to think of where they were in

the confessionals. ILaughter] Father Brennan. He was one of

the older ones.

HM: But in your day-to-day, like at the

school, yeu were involved more with the nuns, right? Because

they were your teachers.

a



o

o

a

o

a

c

o

o

o

Cunning-l'36

JC: Oh, yes.

HM: Do you remember any of them?

Of course. Sister Catherine Baptista

Who I had,

Yes, she was there for my brothers, too.

JC

na

JC

Sister Monica.

o
HM: So you had Sister Monica, and you also

had

DC Sister Immaculata, Sister Maria

Francis Iand] Sister Catherine Baptista. Yes.

HM: And what was she like?

DC: She was touqh.

JC: They were all tough.

o

HM: Were you scared of her?



a

a

o

o

o

o

a

a

O

Cunning-l*37

o

lLaughterl

Si ster

DC: She was o1d by the time I got there.

HM: Sherd had enough of Iittle children.

JC: Who was the one we had the big wake for?

2

DC: Sister Therese?

JC: No. But she was there, Sister Therese.

Slster Agnes James. She went oul like a queen. We had a

4ldinner for her. We had everything. AI1 the nuns came. We

had Sister Therese Joseph, and Sister Therese Anne. They

were wonderful.

DC: Sister Joan Anne

JC: Sister Joan Anne. Yes.

HM: And were they women who came from

a

Hoboken? Or they came from someplace, and they
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JC: A lot of them came from Boston. Yes. And

they let you know it. [Laughs]

were coming to Hoboken to educate

Boston, they come to Hoboken

perception of whaL

nuns and the priests.

HM: Explain that to me. Did they think they

2

o JC: They must have wen'b out to

"convensation, " for all- their trainlng.

HM: But what was their attitude? They're from

did they have a certain

JC: No.

DC: They just got sent here, and that was it.

HM: They didn't have any choice.

JC: But Hoboken wasn't a bad Lown to come to,

you know what. I mean? I think they got a lot of respect, the

o

FIM: As they should.
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JC: It

overnight then. They'd

so we'd pick them up.

RF: Was the orphanage operating?

was part-time. They didn't

keep them from afternoon

keep t.hemo
to supper,

that. If didn't know too much about

o

dld know a couple girls who were at Lt, but I wouldn't even

know their ]ast names anymore. It was over in my tlme. But

anybody who went to it said they were really ni-ce, very good

to them. f'm sure my mother lwanted to send us?l there a few

times.

HM: She'd have to have you at night.

ILaughter, crosstalk]

And the pencil factory was still here?

JC: Oh, yes. Yes

HM: Was that loud?

JC: Loud at school, and on a hot day, when

you'd have to open a window [vocalizes]. Because it ran

this way. So right next to the school, you heard it al.l the

o

o

time.
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HM:

JC:

time. But a lot of
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HM: Did a lot of your neighbors work there?

Bverybody worked at the pencil factory.

Men and women?

My brother worked t-here as a kj-d, part*

women" A lot of women worked there. My

girlfriend just emptied her aunt's house, and we were

Iaughing. She

every color !

said, "You need a pencil. " fl,aughter] They had

HM: WelI, that's one of the perks of working

in a pencil factory. So the men in the Terrace -- they \^iere

firemen?

JC: Firemen. AII the Clancys were policemen.

HM: And they worked on the docks.

JC: And Mr. Kinr; and Mr. Watt -- they were

all on the docks. The Murphys were all, I think, on the

railroad. I know they worked for the railroad. I used to go

o
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o

o

a

o

e

o

to parties with them. We had no professionals. We had no

doctors that I can think of. But everybody worked. Everybody

had a job. [Mr. Earl worked for Con Edison. ]

RF: Would people try to leave for the summer?

People still had to work, bu1- was there the shore ret::eat?

That kind of thing?

JC: Oh, yes. Yes. We went to Rockaway for

three weeks in the sufirmer. And Mary, my friend Mary Duff

Pendrick *- she went all summer. The Earls ** most of them

had a room. You'd get a room down there in Rockaway, and

have one big kitchen that everyb,ody went in.

HM: So more than one famlly would go down

there together, and they would share a kitchen?

JC: Well, anybody that you rented from, you

shared. You'd get a room or two. Mary always had two rooms

RE: So the men would work, and come on

a

weekends, sometimes?
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a

o

a

o

o

o

a

O

a

.lC: Well, fry father would be off . He'd be

with us all the tlme

RF: Oh. That's when he took his rracation.

JC: But the people who had them f or the whol-e

summer naturally, their husbands worked, But Rockaway was

great. You could

dance hall to the

walk there at night, dance ** go from one

other. tie were fifteen*sixteen years old.

When the band stopped, you'd go across the street and dance.

Thal's how we knew all the Irish dances. Thatrs where we

picked them up.

HM: Did you have to be chaperoned?

JC: fn Rockaway? No.

HM: No chaperone. So that's a good thing.

JC: We dldn't stay out you had to be home,

probably, by 11:00, which would be a lot earlier in Hoi:oken

HM: And why would that be? That you would be

a

in earlier in Hoboken?
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JC: This was fun. The summers were fun. Other

than t.hat, you had to be in to do your homework and stuff.

RF: School.

HM: Did you make part.y dresses? Or buy party

dresses for your out.ings?

JC: We bought them.

No. We're not handy, None of us was

We dldn't make anything.

handy. But in Rockaway,

you were

at. night

do now.

in a bathing suit all day, and you

People weren't wal-king around in

did wear skirts

shorts, like they

HM: You know the world you're describing

just really want to get a feeldoesn't exist anymore, so

of what that was like. So a typical day -- if it was a

living in the Terrace, what wouldschool dry, and you were

11Ke /that day be

JC: You'd come home and see if you had to go

L

O

to the st-ore. There was always somethinq to do
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HM: But when you got up in the morning/ your

father and mother were there. Who was making you breakfast,

and what kind of breakfast did you have?

JC: My mother. We had breakfast every morni-ng

-- maybe fried eggs one morning, or oatmeal. My mother was

big on oatmeal.

HM: And everyone ate togeLher.

JC: Oh, yeah. And when my father was coming

in at 8:00r we'd hurry up to eat, just to be seeing him.

HM: Then you wore a uniform to go to school?

JC: Oh, yeah. Wel}, we wore Navy blue skj.rts

and white middy blouses.

HM: Were you allowed to wear jewelry?

JC: Nobody had jewelry. iLaughterl

HM: I just remember friends (this is years

later) , when they wenL, and wore a ring o.r something, the

o

a
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a

o

o

o

o

o

o

nuns would take -* because they didn't want you to look

better or richer than someone e1se. The uniform was to make

everyone the same.

JC: My grandchildren can't go to $chool with

anything on.

HM: That ' s the theo::y.

JC: That's the academy

They're 1n school like f was in school

no nail polish.

HM: That's the rationale behlnd it to have

everybody be the same. IInterruption]

Did the boys have to wear ties?

,JC : Oh, yes .

HM: Now were you separated, boys and girls?

JC: No.

a

a

HM: So it was co-educational.
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sometimes. A ton

confirmation, I

big parish. Our

whole diocese.
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,.IC: I think we had sixty in a cIass,

HM: How many?

RF: Sixty

HM: That's huge.

JC: I'm not sure it was sixty.

DC: IUnclear]

HM: I was just going to say

JC: I can remember when I received

was l0l , and that was the girls. That was a

Lady of Grace was the biggest parlsh in the

RF: And was the school full? It's a huge

o

a

bruilding.
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JC: Packed. And then they had commercial.

Ninth and 1Oth grade were commercj-al.

RE: With industrial type classes, right.

Trade.

JC: It was typing, and shorthand, and

Engllsh. That's what it was. Anybody who came out of there

was smart.

HM: That was so you could get a job when you

left.

JC: Yes

HM: Did you use those skills?

JC: No. f went to high school. I played hooky

one d.y, and got a job at the telephone company

Oh, really

I don't think f wanted anybody to know,

HM

JC

a

but f was only seventeen when I got the job.
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now,

over to

wonderful. ILaughter]

a good lob.

HM: I don't think anybody's going to mind

JC: Five girls went over.

HM: And where did you go? You said you went

JC: To 140 West Street tNYCl.

HM; Wow. That was bold.

JC: lUnc]earl. She thought that was

o

HM: Welt, you probabJ-y did very well. Thatrs

JC: I dicl it for about six years.

o

RF: Dld they hire a1I your friends, too?
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a

JC: Yes. We al} went over. This is funny.

You're not putting this down

RF: IUnclear]

JC: My mother worked in New York before she

was married, so she took us all over. Because over there,

you had to be a certain age to get working papers/ more than

Jersey. She took the five of us, and we had to go for

[tests?]. My mother did all that, and we a]l got the jobs.

RF: So how come we canfL tell that story?

HM: That's breaking the rules.

JC: You know, I was thinkinq of it. I know

three girls, T canrt remember the other two. IL's just a

blank -

HM: You know what wj-Il happen later, it'11

float in when you're not thinking so hard.

RF: Did you have a telephone in Lhe house

D

t

D

I

when you wel:e growing up?
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O

JC: Yes, and when I got the 1ob they had free

service. So the phone was always in Joan Smith. We switched

it over.

RF: Most people do you remember, in the

other Terrace houses would they have a phone? Would that

be a big amenlty?

JC: We had party lines, and j-t was horrible,

because you knew who was on. I had a boyfriend at camp, and

Mary English had a boyfriend at camp, and she'd pick up the

phone and say, "Get off the phone!" Or I'd be on there.

But we had three famil-ies. It was us,

Bnglj"sh, and -- I'm trying to t.hink of t.heir name. They were

adults. They didn't use the phone like us.

HM: The friends from Rockaway?

JC: No. Service.

RF: f remember the phone lines in the Terrace

were just like spider webs. You couldn't figure out what

happened here.

o
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JC: And you had to wait to get your own

phone. I think T got it because f worked there, that we

finally got a prlvate number.

HM: 0h. Free service. Very good.

JC: Nothinq" Iike it would be now. But anybody

retiring from them has free service.

HM: RealIy?

o

they did. I

it to them.

JC: Well ** when it was New York Telephone

don'.1 know, with the switches I bet they qave
,

a

I

D

I

HM: That's a nice parting gi-ft.

RF: So you had 'to go through a training

period for the phones?

JC: Oh, yes. We had tc> go one day a week to

eighteen. I can'tschool over there, because we weren't



o

o

o

o

o

o

o

o

Cunning-7-52

o

remember this, either. Who was the president who ran

Smith? Was it Arthur?

RF: Smith College?

JC: No. For the president. of the Unit.ed

States.

RF: Oh. Alfred. A1 Smith.

JC: It was his school. One of the schools

over there, they said, "Don't
a

named for him, When we got

ever come in unless you're

togelher," the girls. Donrt

togeLher. Make sure you're

oh, they were

know what the

They would be

so cute. They were

hell we were in. We

taking our pictures

But f was the -last

in. And the boys

j.n photography.

didn't do much,

all the time.

up Lhere,

I donrt

1 know.

come

one" f was in May. So I

1<ept losing a girl every month. In the end, f was the only

one. Ilut they had a sign -- and you got paid by the

telephone company. They didn't dock you, until you were

eighLeen.

O

HM: And you took the tube?
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JC: The ferry. Oh, my goodness. Twenty-five

cents. f think that was both ways.

HM: Eor a return round trip. Wow.

JC: Now 140 West Street is back like six

bLocks. You used to come out, and run into the building.

Then they extended it, you know. I loved it. I loved the

telephone.

HM: So you worked there slx years. Then you

got married?

Tf-. VacUV. IUJ.

HM: So te]l me how did you meet your

husband?

JC: At a dance in Jersey City, at St.

Michael's.

o

HI4: Tell me about hlm.



o

o

o

o

o

a

o

a

o

o

Cunning-1-54

JC: He was just out of the service.

HM; Army? Navy?

JC: Army.

HM: Was he wearing uniform when you met

him?

JC: No. l],aughsl I don't think he'd like that

lunclear]. He worked at the A&P warehouse.

HM: And he was a Jersey City guy or a Hoboken

qvy?

JC: Jersey. He came with the girls from New

York to meet the guys one of the guys worked in New York,

and he brought us a}l over to the dance. He called me every

day after that. My mother loved him. She was always on the

phone with him.

FIM: Thatrs always good

a

JC: ILaughs ] Ott, god !
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HM: Did she like him better than you dld? Or

did he win you over?

JC: f think

[Laughter] No, he was very

nightsr so he'd meet me at

in t.he car for hours, then

she liked him better than me !

easy-groing, very nice. He worked

5:00 and drive me home. We'd talk

he had to go to work.

a HM: And he went to work

JC: at the A&P in Jersey City

HM: In Jersey City. Not the one in Hoboken.

JC: The giant one [the warehouse], yes.

DC: The one close to the turnpike.

JC: He was in the butter and cheese. Rlght as

you come down the turnpike. Riqht there.

a

HM: And how long was your courtship?
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JC: I met him in '53, and in '55 we were

married.

HM: Was that considered a long time to be

dating, o:: not?

JC: WelI, he was seven year$ ol-der than me,

so he yes. And everybody liked him. Everybody.

a

o

HM

JC

HM

JC

Including you. ILaughter]

No, f mean, my brothers and sisters

That he1ps.

He fell right into the family; his family

JC: Eight . Bi"girt redheads. All redheads.

fell right into ours.

from a bi-g Ifamify] ?

I-lM: And he came from a family was he also

o

RF: So he left the A&P
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JC: They closed the A&P. They shut down the

butter urarehouse, He was there a long time. He was there

twenty-something years, when it shut down.

DC: Just shy of twenty-five.

JC: Yes. Then he went in1-o the Board of Ed,

the Hoboken Board of Ed, when the A&P closed. Then he went

Lo the post office, part-time, and he wound up with the two

jobs, fulI-time.

RF: So around how o1d was he when he gets

involved with the fire department.

JC: No fire department.

RF: Oh, I'm sorry. That was your father

JC: Yes. My father and my brother:s. He'd say,

when they'd say lunclearl, "I work for a living."

o

D

HM: And they st"lll liked him. fI,aughter]
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JC: It was a joke. [Cross talk] Because

everybody lunc]ear.l . rrI work for a living."

HM: So the bu[ter and egg thing -- why did

they close it? Was it because things were shipped *- ?

JC: f don't know wha'L they did at that time.

It was terrible. My brother*in*1aw was there twenty*eight

yeal:s. It was a big mix*up. That was downtown. Everybody

worked there. Everybody, Johnny Kenny put everybody in

there. That's how it went. They were a1l political. But they

just closed down all t.he operations here.

HM: Was that a union job?

JC: Oh, yes. And they guaranteed that if you

got a job wit-hin so many miles, Yourd get the same pay. That

never happened. Because they got the jobs j-n Secaucus, and

they worked regular hours for much less money. The A&p was

very nice money. When they cfose a place, what do they give

you? Compensation? Sever:ance.

o

RI': Someti-mes severance.
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JC: Everybody funclear,] came out and bought

houses a down payment, and stuff like that.

RF: And I guess the mayor you would remember

most would be Mayor Grogan?

JC: Oh, yes, Johnny Grogan. Yes. My girls

took dancing lessons from his wife. Where we used to go in

Rockaway, his wife was in the band wlth her mother and a

brother. They played every weekend down there.

HM: She was in a band, meaning

JC: Mrs. Grogan. She sang, and her ]crother

sang, and they danced. They taught Irish dancing. The

McNultys. There are a lot of records ar:ound. f 've just seen

tha't somebody said they've got them on tape now.

RF: Her sj-sters were also singers, the

McNuIty Sisters, maybe going back to Ireland.

JC: Maybe. I don't know. Fle was from fourth

Street, the Mayo::. Then when t.hey married, they lived on

Hudson Street. That's where the girls took their l-essons.

o
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o
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They'd go every Friday night, and every Friday night she'd

call me up and she'd say, "Mrs. Cunning, He1en's never going

to dance." [Laughter] She'd say, "Why don't you come up?" I

went up, everyhody got up to dance, and she stood tal1,

ri"ght next to her. As soon as Eileen left, she would flop.

RE: But it was an lrish theme that they were

known for.

JC: Yes, Jigs. They did the jiqs. [frish step

dancing. l

RF: Can you remember many things about Mayor

Grogan?

JC: Oh, we were always Grogan people.

Rememb,er, ffiy

stayed with

father and my brothers were firemen, so you

that group, more or less. My father was a

Committeeman, and he gave

Committeeman. We moved to

it up. My sister was a

Hoboken, and Johr:ny Kinney wanted

they rnade him. Everybody

You did your job. You did

Eddle to be the Committeeman, and

cooperated, you know what I mean?

your thing.
o

o
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RF: What type of politics were going on in

the Terrace? Would people get involved?

JC: I think we had one Republican -- the

Askews. f 'm prett.y sure that's what they were. Everyhody

else was -- you know. And l1ke the l{ollanders -- we had some

Hollanders. I think they did whatever you asked them. Even

Norm Wilson's family l1ved in the Terrace.

RF: I didn't know that.

JC: Yes. One of his aunts, I guess. As a

matter of fact, they had houses in the second Terrace, in

the front. I'm trying to think Kane. One was Kane.

HM: He has good stories to tell.

JC: You said what did we do? We went to

dances. When I was a teenager, we were at St. Michaelrs on

Sunday; Demarest on Friday; Wednesday was CYO at Our Lady of

Grace; and now and then we went to St. ,Joe's. We went there

at least three nights a week.

o

o
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HM: And you always went with your

girlfriends.

JC: Oh, yes

HM: But then you woulcl probably meet boys who

wanted

JC: Well, we really meL boys when my brother

came home on leave, and brought home five soldiers.

ILaughter]

HM: You were like bait.

JC: Everybody loved me. I got more friends

that year. And they were here a while, like a month. He was

there three years, they sent them back here, and they were

in a New York camp, an army camp in Brooklyn, not far away.

RF: The Navy yard?

JC: Not the Navy Yard. There was something

o

over there. Because Lhey came back every night
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o

HM: And they stayed at your house?

JC: Threy stayed at my sj-ster's house; they

stayed at a cousin's house; and my father said, "TeIl "l-hem

to get the hell home." One of t.hem lived in Kentucky. He

said, "Why don't you all go visit, and stay there?" They

were nice guys, but, you know -- and they all had money.

HM: They were still getting their pay.

JC: We were running ar:ound Times Square.

allowed t.oYourd qo over ** whj-ch I would never have been

do, only my brother was ther:e.

HM: So when was that? You were a teenaqer

then?

JC : Yes . S j-xteen, seventeen .

FIM: And running around in Times Square. Were

you going to movies?

JC: We were going to movies, yes, and, you
o

a

know see a show. Go and have what was the spaghetti,
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like a dollar. You'd go in those places, and for a dollar

you'd get a big meal, with the macaroni. We went to places

we wou.ld never have gone, because they wanted to see them *-

all the sights. They were home a couple of months, My father

was so happy when they left.

HM: So three times a week, going to different

dances. Were you unusual, or was that a common thlng?

Everybody did that.

Oh, everybody did that*-dances. Yes.

That was the entertainment,

Yes.

That's before TV

But there were movie theatres in Hoboken,

o

o

JC

HM

JL

HM

JC

HM

too.

a
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.IC: Oh, sure" We went to the Eabian, the U.S.

There were other ones, but we never went like the boys

went to I can't thlnk of the name. They called it the

"scratch houser " so the girls never went there. But it was

regular movies. Iadds ].ater: U.S. Theater, 6th and. Washington

StreeL.l The Fabian was the big ** come down and have a Coke

and French fries. f wlsh I could remember the name.

A luncheonette?

Yes. On that side of there were three

places you went to, one on First and Washington, then

Umlands, ofl Fifth and Washington, Then the one between

Seventh and Eighth. What the hell's the name? [adds later:

Janette' s. l

HM: Not Schnackenherg's.

JC: No. No, no. That's too far. We didn't go

uptown. fl,aughter] Eighth Street was far

o

HM

d\-

o

o

HM: Yes to walk
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JC: I can't think of 1t. It was a nice place.

o

a

we used to go. But, you know, you went there, you got a Coke

and French fries for fifty cents, probably. That would be

the mosL you'd ever have.

HM: Did you get an allowance? How did you

have pocket change?

JC: I guess we got money for doing something.

I'd been babysittlng ever s.ince I could remember. I hlas

always taking care of someone someplace.

HM: And what about that 9uy, Frank Sinatra?

Was he singing then? Or was he not really well known?

JC: I can remember

have a thinq saying, "Who are you

came out if it was Bing Crosby

thing over

anything. f

here. I just. read his

him then. Somebody would

for?" and seeing how much

or Sinatra. It was a big

book. Il{e didn't see him or

have a cousin who used to saV, "Oh, I saw him

walking down the street last week." He ciidn't come back

here, I don't think, often. I remember him -- we had a

parade, in which the Mayor f have to tel-l-: We clid have

parades. It was the March of Progress, and he brought all

o

o
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these models with him. They were up on the fire engine/ and

my brother, Jim, was just on. He was the tiller man. We all

went up to

was kind of

see it come down the avenue. It was at night. ft

1ate. And Frank Sinatra was the

HM: The grand marshal

L.l L- or whatever.

RF: There's a picture of him riding on the

truck. His father was a fireman -- Marty.

JC: My father's captain.

RF: Right, So he operated out of what, #5, on

Grand Street?

JC: No, Hudson Street. ft's gone

DC: Where Bank of America is. My mother's

father and Marty worked together.

o

HM: Any stories about that?
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o

Rogers. "

They got

Sinatra,

JC: N0, not really.

DC: There's a story about the cars. and "Roy

JC: A gang of kids stole my fatherrs car.

it back, but my father always said, "That punk,

was wit.h them." But his father was the captain, so

nobody could do anything about it.

HM: That sounds about right.

RF: Because Marty worked out of #5 I mean,

out of the one on Grand Street. The firehouse.

DC: Bventually. But when they were together,

they were up on Hudson Street.

RF: Do you remember Dolly?

JC: I met her a couple of times. The last

time I met her, my girlfriend said to her, "Do you think

Frank's going to marry Mia?" And she said (not nj-ce words),

"Do you think my son woul-d even look at that --t' We were in

o
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a church. Everybody sat there ! She let her

very, very voca1. And he married her, f think,

weekend.

opi-nir:n out

the next

o

HM: Right. WeIl, she was very possessive of

her son.

JC: Oh, she was a character.

RF: Salty language.

JC: She and her brother were very good

friends. My sister used to go with one of the nieces, and

most people thought that her brother was her husband" He

wenL to all the affalrs and everything. I don't think Marty

d-id any of that stuff. I read the book, and I donrt think he

was ever that vocal. I can remember them saying she was with

her brother. My sister, Marietta/ was up in the house in

Castl-e Point, and she was in the house up in Weehawken. And

she said ever pillow was a picture of Frarrk; every dish, and

everything. She was a nice person, really, but after she

answe::ed that question that night...

o

a

HM: And in church, to boot.
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JC: A school a church affair at St.

Joe's. f remember it very we}l.

HM: So who are you going to introduce me te,

with the pictures?

JC: Oh. I dj-dn't know what you wanted.

HM: We will- need t.hem.

JC: I have one wlth all the seven. Wait. a

minute. I wanted to ask you about this [unclear]. Where did

f get this picture? My grandmother. My father's mother.

DC: A $20 tuition biLl.

HM: From 1896. The best thing you could do

wouLd be just get a scan of it

RF: Are there more pieces?

o

o

JC: No. Are there three pieces here?
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RF: There are two. There might be one more

p1ece.

HM: Like the corner of that?

DC: There are only two pieces.

JC: Are you sure?

HM: If they all go together. This may not go

with this.

RF: It doesn't seern like they match up.

That's why I was curious.

JC: I think I can find the othe:: one.

HM: ft's a bigger sheet of paper"

Rtr: And the lines don't match.

HM: The best thlng to do, thougrh, is t.o have

these scanned, because at least you have it in the form that

it is now,

o
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a
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JC: And where do you do that?

RF: We can do it for you, actually

HM: They have a real}y good scanner.

DC: Her motherts brot.her, Luke -- he was a

county cop, a Hudson County policeman, and he rode a

motorcycle most of his life, and then went back to work. He

stayed on the job. This guy on the end. And this 1s the

entire Hudson County police department, at the time. lle's

the Iunclear].

RF: That's "Hudson" Boulevard?

DC: I believe so, because it says something

about it here. ICross talk]

I"{M: So this is what '20s? [Unclear] This

is around the '20s? lCross talk]

a

a

back?

RF: I would think. Is there anything on the
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HM: They're framed. lUnclearl ff you knew how

old he was when he had his accident, maybe you could --

RF: It looks like the '20s.

HM: Yes, f think so, too.

lUnclearl

So the Hudson County police department

Now it's Hudson County. This was Hudson

DC: He was born in 1896. Here 1s the 1920s.

HM: I just guessed by the hats, because

that's when they wore those boaters.

DC

HM

UL

Boul-evard police.

RF: I'm going back to the Terrace. So do

remember outhouses? Would you remember outdoor plumbing,

a sense?

you

i-n

o
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mother bought

outside. They

don't know i-f

worst looking

JC: The house that I bought *- well, ffiy

it first at 27 they had the outhouse

just took it out, and put a bathroom in. But I

the woman ever used it. I thought it was the

I can remember seeing i.t, and saying, "Oh,

my god, people used this?"

RF: The outhouse if it wasn't built Jrack,

was it back by the shed?

JC: Well, they al1 had the shed. It was like

in the shed that they had it. Yes. ft was actually 1n the

shed.

RF: The outhouse. That makes sense

JC: And that was 25.

RF: So you lived at 15, tJ,

husband bought 27 , and you lived there. So

in 15.

and you and your

you were raised

oh

o

JC yes.
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DC: How much was that house $1, 200?

JC: Six thousand.

RF: Thatrs what the taxes are.

HM: Yes. Really. ILaughter]

DC: What number were you?

RF: Sixty-three the old Griffin house.

HM: With the key on the outside.

Okay. So you're showing me these have

o

o

already been scanned.

laugh?

JC: That's my husband. That's a bad picture.

HM: Thatfs a good picture. Who's making him

DC: He was always smiling.

o

HM: fs he? He's really laughing.
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JC: We were just married a couple months

t.hen.

HM: That's a great picture.

RF: I'm trying to remember your dad died

in the 'B0s?

DC: Yes '89 or '88. ft was a couple days

before his sixtieth birthday. Inotes later '89]

JC: You're saying, "Dacl," l was thinking my

dad. Six days before he was sixty. So we lost two pensions.

HM: Oh, dear. That's heartless

DC: He worked 7:00 to 3:00 at the posl-

office, then came home and ate, and 4:00 to L2z00 lwent to

work againl. He was amazing.

ilM: That's the contract you make. You give

your labor, and then they Lake care of everyone after: that.

a
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JC: You know what I should have said

everybody in my family worked for the city at one time. Me

and my brothers. My sister flene was a clerk in the school.

Who else?

DC: There was your father, your three

brothers and your sister.

JC: My fatherr fry three brothersr my sisLer,

Ilene. Virginia didn't work in the schools. Just them. We

were a}l kind of city people.

RF: Right" So the St. Patrick's Day parade

started in '86, so he would have particlpated in the first

JC: Oh, the first three

DC: fn '85 him and Helen and a small group

planned the whole thj-ng, right there.

JC: And it started at "Helen and Friends."

o

Thatrs what we called it.
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DC: The Jersey City parade was kind of

dwindling at the time.

JC: Don't say that. They get mad. [Laughter]

No, we've been taking our kids Lo the parade since they were

babies. We used to go to the Newark parade. The when the

Jersey City parade came up and my mother never really

went out. But f brought her out. I brought her to all the

luncheons at school, the parties and a.l-l. We made all the

parades with the kj-ds and all-, and we loved it. I didn't

know -* I feel very bad that all this attention came to this

parade when all charges are dropped, and nobody knows

anything. That doesn't make it sound good. It made us sound

terrible, and they come along these people didnrt care.

RF: So would you say that going to all those

parades was kind of the inspiration for the one in Hoboken?

JC: Yes. They've been going to parades

forever, these kids. And even Hoboken -- we always had

parades. When I was a little girl, we had parades. We al.ways

had the big Memorial Day parade; then, later on, they got

the |Ia.l-loween parade. AI1 these kids were in those parades.

Their father went with them. Because I always hacl anot-her

o

o
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a

baby at home. Not home, but in the carriage. We sat there,

we talked about it. We ran the dance. and the dance came up

wonderful. People came. This year we had over 300 people. I

think j-Lts a nice thing, and I think itrs a shame that I

don't know. My kids never got in trouble on St. Patrick's

Day. My friends' kids never got in t.rouble. They blame

everything on the parade. But

out? Did you give them $f00?

-- we'd come back there with

how did you let your kid go

A girl said to me, in the Quays

Danny the Quays,

after the parade, about 9:00, and in the

b,athroom. So f said, "What happened?" I thought, "What did I

get

t'My

My

into this year?" She said, "1 lost my money. " She said,

father just gave me the money before I l.eft the house.

father gave me

The

said, "Empty your

and, like mine, LL

IUnclear] to

she's crylng

$100." I said, "A hundred dollars?"

thing was wet, f dried it off, and T

pocketbook. " We emptied her pocketbook,

had every piece of junk in it, and there

thought, "Why would anybody give t.his

bj.1l to go out?"

o was a $100 bilf. I

young gi::l a $100

RF: Drinking.

HM: No one's watching out.

o

So letrs look at these kids
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RF: Here's some, i-n front of the Terrace.

HM: Oh, this j-s qrreat in front of the

Terrace. So who are we looking at here?

JC: This here *- this is nieces and nephews.

This is my family. There's one missing. One, two, three,

four, five. There are two missing; Jane and Joan are missing

ther:e . And here, they' re here .

HM: And this is inslde the house. They had a

lot of redheads.

JC: Yes.

HM: 0h, what a qreat picture.

JC: And Iunclear] had none. ILaughs] Tt'd

drive them crazy.

HM: lsn't that so great. They're perfectly

o

o

lined up except one's crying.
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JC: Oh, he was terrible. They called me up,

and they wanted him ** they said, "You know, he's got red

hairr " and he was just really a bloncte, and they wanted hlm

to mode1. I said, "Were you.there when they took the

picture?" Dear god. They were terrible. This is all my

grandchildren.

RF: So how many grandchildren?

JC: Twelve. f'm going to be a great-

grandmother in August.

RF: I was wondering. In August.

HM: Thai: ' s great .

JC: These are the Terrace. lUnclearl's

cofilmunl-on.

HM: Oh, these are great" ft looks the same.

ftts amazing. It really does.

o

o

o

JC: And this is a}l of them grown uP.
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RF: A lot more parking spots.

HM: Oh, that's a nice shot.

RF: From the '60s.

HM: So when you moved out of the Te.rrace

f moved here.

HM: And this is very spacious and everythlng.

But how did that feel? You had moved around, and that had

been your neighborhood for so long.

JC: It was very odd. We came in, and we were

crying. I was just saying to Danny *- the people that had it

did it in black and gray. The floors were black and gray,

and she had elephants or somethinq all over. fI,aughs] She

was a very nl-ce

p1ace. When my

here. He said,

thought I could

not lived nice.

it was a very dark and dingY

my friend, John, Put my name :.n

o

a
person, but

husband died,

"I puL your name in

keep the house. f

So when f sold the

the Church Towers. " I

could have kept it, and

house, I didn't bring

everything brand new. I

a

thing out of that house. I bought

a
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had everything done here -* the floors, the bathroom, and

all. And I love it. I really love it.

HM: We}1, it's a good idea to do that,

because then you're not bringing in the other stuff, and

it's a new thing.

R.F: A fresh start

JC: Not only that, f'm in my same

neighborhood. I can see my mother's house out the bedroom

window.

RF: So you have spent your entire life

JC: right here. And my mother, too. She

came from 256 Sixth Street.

RF: A few blocks in Hoboken. f know how

important t.he church is to you, and these 'L.hree blocks,

right? ft's amazing.

JC: ft was always the house ** my mother's

!

granddaughte:: got married out of the house. I had friends
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from lreland who got married out of my house. Then the whole

orr, nobody cared. They didnrt bother

out, and the women, too/ sat out in

the sulnmer and drank b,eer, outside your door. And }ike f

said, you didnrt walk through there. We had a dog ifa

block was out. Everybody

somebody got their load

anybody. And the men sat

nun carne down the street, that

awful. They would pass, and he

I was out there apologizing all

came out. There was no troub]-e. If

dog would bark, he was so

would go Ivocalizes howling].

the time.

o

o

HM: Well, it's like the community room/ in a

wdy, the streel. And the people who lived there, that.'s

their shared communal space.

DCr Then there was the football fleld.

JC: And the lots behind us, everybody used

that for anythlng you wanted to do. If you wanted to come irr

the house -- we got furniture -- they came in that lot, and

came over the roof with everything.

RF: So what's the I ot behind you?

o

JC: No, it's a building.
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DC: There's an apartment building there.

RF: The apartment building which has where

they park in the back.

JC: No, but the next house. Right behind the

Terrace they built a house.

RF: Okay. That's new.

JC: That was part of that lot. Everybody was

having trouble with their sewers, and we did the house over

We were supposed to go into the sewer line there. WeIl, the

house was done and ready, and they just hadn't connected it

up the regular way. f don't think the contractors knew what

the hell they were doing. The city. That would have been

great, because we used to have a lot of trouble wlth that,

with the sewers over there. And on this side, I thlnk they

still have trouble. That's horrible.

RF: We're on the end,

o

o

JC: Yourre all right.

SO
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HM: Everybody talks about that. That's the

problem.

JC: When they did it, they came and they

said, "Oh, we found diapers in there." I said, "Diapers! My

kids are in school for God's sake. Don't be looking at me

wlth diapers. "

RF: And what about sounds frorn next door?

Could you hear people going up the steps?

JC: We lived with it. We lived with it.

DC: One wall was brick, a common wal}.

JC: But when we did the house over, the

panels

People

floor.

were all soundproof. Like I said --

complain here about hearing things.

I probably would have hated it if I

it's funny.

f'm on the top

h/as underneath.

HM: But a.lso, if you think about it, j.t's

different kinds of sounds, too. Like if my next-door

o

neighbor has his stereo oo, that's bass, and that's not ,l-ike
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a human voice. So it's a dlfferent kind of noise level. And

cars that go by on Willo\,i now they're huge. They're so

heavy that they shake the house.

DC: You know the St. Mary's route.

a

a

a

HM

RF'

HM

Everything.

Now you're heari-ng our problems.

No, but j-t's a different kind of sound.

You can't believe. You hear every sound,

and you live wlth it.

HM: You block it out. But I do think there

are l-evels of what you can

of your house, ta.l-king to

conversati-on,' that's okay.

take. And if you're out in front

your neighbors that's

you, and they were r-islng an

But if they were next door to

electric sander

JC: Oh, no. We have that here, though, a lot,

because peopte are a1l doing their apartments over. They let

you do it-, you know? And now I hear they're helping you out

o
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with it. When I came, I did everything. I don't regret it,

though. I'm qlad I did it.

HM: And you dld it the way you wanted it

RF: Well-, tell us about the fire in Willow

Terrace when that was

JC: My mother's fire.

RP: Yes.

HM: When was that?

JC: The girls were in high school. ladds

later: 19751

DC: f was like in the sixth qrade. I was home

that day.

JC: You couldn't have been in sixth grade

The girls were in high school, at the fire"

a

DC: IUnclear]
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JC: IUnc]"earl

HM: So if you were in sixth grade
a

o

o

JC : f was born in ' 62 , so ' 12-' '/ 3?

HM: And you were i.n the house?

DC: f was in the lunclear] in 27, and Grandma

came running in saying, "There's fire" Give me the phone."

So I walked down to the "thing, " and one of t.he lunclear]

firemen was funclear]. He was running in. I went to the

doorway with him, like the l:ack kitchen cJoor:, he opened the

kitchen, and tons of flames came out. So he was yelling,

"Get out, get out." So f ran back down to tell Grandma

just to make sure she was okay -* f tu::ned a::ound, and the

flame was out the door and up the pole, in the middl-e of the

block. It was a gas leak.

HM: f was just goi.ng to say it had to be

fueled by something.

a

JC: V,ie had the gas company in
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DC for like three days.

JC: Three days. They came 1n and they shut

everything off. Then we had S&B come in, and he says

RF: S&B Plumbing.

JC: Yes. He said, "You need a new furnace.

This is an old furnace, blah, blah, blah. " Now the Public

Service comes back to see what you did, and my mother said,

"You don't need a new furnace. That's ridiculous. " Only if

been wonderful. Theyou had this in writing,

door blew

it would have

third day, the

enough not to

out. And my mother she was smarL

touch it but she went into the closet and

o

got this big bag that she had al1 sorts of stuff in (Irm as

bad as he::), and out the door she went. And we g'ot nothing

out of that house. Nothing. It was only insured for a ]ittle

bit of money, I think $8,000 or something ridiculous.

But Public Service, they told us, "Forget

about it." We had a flre inspector who was a jackass. He

went right along with Public Service. And my mother was too

old to do that. My mother took it wonderful. When she walked

out of that house, she was fine. When she go[ to my sister's

a
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fo:: three days, she called me up and sald, "Can I stay in

your house?" I said, "Surer " so she came down. We rebuilt

that, and we were with the guys every day, getting the thinq

done. My uncl-e had dled and left her some money, which my

mother never had in her life. That's how she rebuilt t.he

house. She rebuilt her own house.

RF: At that time, who's living on the block?

You had three houses, in a sense, or two?

JC: No, two. But my two girls were Iiving

with my mother, because my father had died. So they were
a

staying over.

When they were

the meals were

the girls were

Even when I was sick, they went down there.

teenagers, yes. They stayed there a Iot. AlI

at my house. Everybody came to my house. But

there.

RF: So it's 21 and 15. Did the fire affect

the house next door'?

JC: Oh, yeah. F'ive houses . [Cross ta]kl It

was Guzzt t#171, Clancy t#191 , Eileen Clancy t#f:1, and

o

Frieda #1t1, and then the woman on the other side.
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DC: When she was on the phone, too, she said,

"Mrs. Srnith, there's a fire." They said there was a fire,

and who it was. They knew who she was. So all of a sudden my

cousin, Bill Thiel, who was worki.ng on Eighth Street, came

flying around the corner

JC: He was the first one there, running.

L,,L ::unning, ran out of the firehouse. He

a

a

a

,

HM: And no loss of life. Think about how

close those all those houses are, and gas !

had his motorcycle out front, and

they got there and everything. It

talkJ

god 1t wasn't at night.

that thing was blazing. So

was unbelievable. lCross

DC: It was bu1lt to burn. It was all wood.

JC: It was like 12:00 in the afternoon. Thank

D

Terrace?

RF: So did tlre fire truck come down to the
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a

a

o

o

.TC: Oh, they were lined up. Yes.

DC: Against traffic, from Eighth Street. They

came luncl-earl .

RF: And all those phone 1ines.

JC: My neighbor next door, Mr. Earl *- he

called his wife in. He was a character. He wound up as my

sister's father-in*1aw. He said, "Are you cooking

something?" ILaughter] Can you hear him? "Are you cooking

somethlng?" ILaughter] So everybody was out in the street,

watching. Oh, it was horrible.

RE: But no one got hurt.
o

JC: And

champ. Everybody was

got hurL. We were all

as I said, my mother took

worried. My mother justDV

it like a

nobody

ina

old

out. She had all her policies

plastic bag. That was a riot. [Laughs] A whole big

thing, and she took that with her.

a
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a

a

RF: And any particular real characters on t.he

block that you want to talk about?

JC: Oh, I couldn't. ILar:ght.er]

RF: ltell us about your neighbors.l

JC: The Clancys were all cops and firemen.

And their mother was sick. She used to be in a chair all the

time. My mother did everything for them. Those boys thought

she was their mother. They went into the service, they came

back, and my mother would have their white hats all done for

them and all. My mother's house was very open like that. Any

kid in trouble came to my mother. And my brother's ages.

RF: She lived across the street from you.

JC: No. Same side. Five doors away. We had a

path in the snow/ anything to get down there.

RF: And there was Edna

JC: Edna she had part of the fire, too

o

O

She was there, to the left of the house.
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TT

DC

JC

film stuff in the

DC: Eleven Willow Terrace.

The right.

Faci-ng it, to the left.

Yes, She had. But her son had a lot of

attic, and that's what got ruined. She's

o

Iucky it didn't get worse.

HM: We1l/ yoll don't lhink about it until

[it's too late.] Smart of your mother to have al"l her

policies and

with her.

stuff in one place, in a bag she could take

JC: But, you

i-nsurance like that. Tf it

know, they didn't have fire

cost $3"00r you couldn't do it.

They had all those little petty ten*cent policies and all.

If she had bought that later on -- when I bought it, and

mortgaged the house, you had to have it.

o

o

RF: Ri"ght. The Iunclear]
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JC: But' like I sai-d, she came out of it, she

had money that she never thought she'd have.

HM: So she felt fortunate. She was alive/ and

no one qot hurt.

DC: It was a beautiful house.

JC: It was. lt was really very nice. Very,

very nice. Yes

HM; That helps.

RF: I remember your having more pictures

around in that house than you have here, fCross talk] I just

remember going into the Terrace house, and -* Oh, here we

go. Okay. Now we're goj-ng. [looking at pi-ctures]

JC: We just came bacl< from Rome, so f have

two popes that I did see. The girls and I just came back. It

was n.r-ce.

This is my baby. She isn't on that wal1,

e

o

because I don't like the frame. I've got to get it framed
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This is my grandson, and theyrre having a baby. That's

Eddie's oldest boy.

RF: Riqht. I remember him, growing him.

JC: And this is the "brida.l" wall. That's

all have short hair, because they were all in

D

D

D

f

Danny. They

that school,

Danny? When

three litt.le

being f j-remen. Thatf s when

he got married? And that's

redheads. They have four.

he was a cop, right?

Jane She has the

three kids in

a boy in

And this is

He has

[unclear]. Therets Patty and John" They have

college, and a

when f used to

girl graduating eighth grade,

be skinny.

RF: It's very charming.

HM: You could see how he could charm people.

He has that friendly smi1e.

JC: And that's Bernadette.

HM; This was the geneal.ogical thing. Then

you'd have the children
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JC: This is the year Eddie died. They gave it

to us as a birthday present. Then we have some more babies.

f don't have nice pictures of the two little ones, and they

tell- me all the time, [unclear] .

HM: More babies?

JC: That's the five of them. I must have had

pictures of Jane and Joan's. f can't- find it though.

o

o

HM: I like that.

JC: Isn't that" nice?

HM: Yes. Belting out a tune. llaughterl

JC: That's John.

RF: You've got a great view.

JC: Yes. Oh, we do have a nice view. Well,

into the Terrace.

Did you see this house they just built up

AS

I said,

a

here?

I l-ook
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HM: The fancy one? You mean that one? Which

one?

JC: They just built a house up over what

looked like a garage. [Cross talk]

HM: Oh, that used to be the little teeny one

JC: Yes. My mother was right behind that.

HM: Because you were talking about the lot

that was behind -- because that was low for a long time.

Yes. I know. f've been watching them build

that.

JC: But I look up and I see Clinton.

HM: And you have the church, which they

haven't yet turned into a parking lot.

o

r ight ?

RF: So you know every crack in the sidewalk,
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JC: Oh, god. [Laughter] But it's nice.

This is their graduation from school. Then we

have the other room.

HM: You see, you challenged, so she had to

show you that the pictures were dispersed.

RF: The plctures

more room to show them. They're

yes, yes. Therers sort of

spread out.

o

JC: I did that bathroom when I moved in. We

had it all tiled and all.

HM: It's nice. Itrs big.

RF: I wonder who dld the tiling.

,fC: You know, Vinnie Wassmann.

RF: Oh, Vinnie. Okay. I thought you did it.

[Cross talk] Vinnie went through hell with his house, huh?

o

DC: 0h, Lhat was terrj-ble.
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RF: Unbel i-evable . Unbelievable .

So, are we there)

HM: Yes. There may be

we do the transcri-pt. We may even do

remember stuff, There will be things

other questions after

a second -* and you'11

that

should bring

Shall we do

RF: We'l-1 follow up, maybe.

i-lM: What do you want to do about *- because I

the little stickersr so I can identify people.

that? Why don't I bring the transcript? What do

o

you think?

RE: f think so.

JC: Okay. AIl right.

HM: That way, we'11 just do

and you'11 tell me who everybody is. f'11

And I think we should have some pictures

a separate thing,

do left-to-riqht.

of the parade.

o

JC: I do have pictures from the parade, yes.
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RF: It won't be a problem.

HM: WeIl, just in general. And then maybe

we'll talk a little bit more about that. We'lI go into the

pictures more, But this is a good foundation. And think

about a lot of times what happens is you start to

there al:e new stories, there are things you want to say. So

new stori-es. But I think we'reif there are, we'1I cover the

good.

JC: I should say that the kids were born in

St. Mary's. They were all born in St, Maryrs.

HM: Everybody.

JC: Yes.

RF: This is their world.

HM: It really is amazi"ng -- even the Ae P

connection. It is amazing. You don't have to go far, to have

all your needs met.

o
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RF: f'm actually not sure. What was on the

site of the A&P? I don't know.

,lC: The silk mill. Oh, we hung out there a1I

the tlme.

RF: Tel} me about the silk mill.

JC: Oh, the silk mill had a loading dock

there, so that's where everybody sat at night. Everybody

would be over there. It was the whole width of that parking

IoL near [unclear]. Everybody worked in there, too a lot

of Italians. IUnclear] tailoring and things like that. But

it was actually the big bales of stuff.

HM: So they manufactured fabric.

RF: They had big bolts of fabrics, and the

trucks would be picking it up, brinqing stuff in, and

bringing stuff out. And they had this loading dock. I don't

think f've ever seen a picture of it before.

JC: f wonder if I have any pictures of it.

a

a

Because we all hunq out there.
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HM: That would be great. I don't think frve

ever heard anyone talk about that, have yor.:?

JC: It wasn't a big dock, it was just that

you had to boost up to

DC: Did they have a bad fire? Or was that

IUnclear] Storage?

JC: I don't thlnk so. I think they just went

out.

RE': Wef d like some pictures of you as a

young girl if you have them from the dances, because you

t.alked about tl:em so clearly.

.lC: Oh, for god's sake. We didn'L have

cameras when we were going to dances.

HM: WeI}, even a frlend, maybe, took a

o

picture. fCross talk]
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JC: You know, through movl-ngr \de lost a Iot

of my mother's stuff. What we did -- we put it up -* Jane

had the houser so it went up there. So f have to go and

rea11y look.

RF: Because there's a lot of your kids

growing up, but I think we'd like to see some of you

earlier, too.

JC: Ihaveapicture I don't know what

happened to

the roof. We

why.

1t. I just had it of my two sisters and I on

used to take pictures on the roof. Don't ask me

RF: Jusi- to get away. [Unclear] Tar beach.

JC: I will look. I will look.

HM: And anythinq with the mill that would

be great.

RF: Or just anything. Sure. Let's see. What

o

are the earliest pictures we have here. Obviously these go
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way back. But we don't have anything'30s and'40s, f don't

think. Flfties, '60s

HM: Thls is early*ish.

RF: But you, as a kid.

JC: I know what you mean. f have to have

pictures of my brothers and sj sters.

DC: Someone just put those on the Internet,

and we have them *- of that party at Romanors.

JC: Yes. Bileen did that.

DC: I have them on my computer

I-lM: So when you're ready, you can send us a

I -peg.

JC: My brother's daughter put a picture of me

I'm in a yellow dress. His daughter came and sai-d, "I saw

the picture Mimi, and I look just like you. " I said, "Oh,

god help you." She sald, "I look like Vou," and she's a very

o
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beautiful girl, and she doesn't l"ook like me. lI,aughs] But

1f you see this picture of me in the yellow dress. Everybody

tel1s me

DC: ft's funny. We sit at this table, and

there's more f-iquor: bott.l-es on this table, and I'm like,

"Whatrs going on here?"

JC: Where?

HM: ft's after a party. And at some point, I

guess I won't take this genealogical stuff

JC: You probably can, because she can just

make copies.

HM: Ask her first, because f'm coming back

DC: If you're bringing it back. And this all

came out of her computer. These things she might want, but I

mean

RF: Do you want to take them now, and we'l-l

o

just make a copy?
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HM: Yes, because this is good *- r,ve always

talk to people about doing family genealogy.

RF: and no one ever does it.

DC: She's like hooked on this now. At firsta

o

a

o

she said it was drivlng

it, and when you do this

unbel j-evable, I rm going

ILaughter] [Cross talk]

her crazy, but now, when you look at

stuff, this lead comes up, and it's

to hang out at the firehouse.

That's a gireat blackmail photo.

He just called. They think they're gettlng

"made" next week; get promoted. T jusL retired as battalion

chief, and he's going to move up to my spot.

RF: So you're retired-retired? [Cross talk]

DC: f'11 just do that for now.

HM: llooking over the family treel Oh, I see

O

what she has. Oh. So she did this separate one on Ol-inda.
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DC: Yes. WeII, Olinda there was a lot of

information for Ollnda. That's why she was

JC: I swear, my mother never, ever told us

about her, and she lived with us.

DC: And she found my father's uncle. My

father:'s mother was "Miss Hannah Grant. " Her brother said,

in the census, "Hoboken fireman. " She looks him up, I look

up his records at work, and he was a chief officer

lunclearl. On the other side of the family, my father's

side

HM you can go look up all the church

records, too, of when they were christened. All that stuff

-is in the::e. The paper trail is so good.

JC: It's unbelievable, isn't it, really?

HM: And you're so close to the church, so

o

it's not really a hassle.

JC: My qrandfather's sister was the first one

o

t-o be christened at our Lady of Grace church. And when they
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did the 150, Father called me up and he goes, "How do you

spel1 that name?" Because they spelled it differently. It

said, "ft's got to be your aunt. rr l sai-d, "Wel-l, how old do

you think I am?" [Laughs] I thought it was funny, after

that. But it was.

RF: They have all the baptismal records.

HM: ThatIs what I'm saying. Everything is in

there.

JC: You know, the only one left. in the

Terrace is Eileen Clancy. We say the new family, the lt.alian

people I still say "the new family. " [Cross talk]

RF: Wetl, we've lost Mr. McCourt, I don't

even know. Is Mrs. "Fiorenza" still there?

JC: Yes. She' s there. Stinson' s there.

Rf: You're calling that side of Iunclear]

"C1ancy, " you're saying, right?

a

JC: No. Mary Ann. You know Mary Ann Stinson.
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RF: Yes. I dc:

JC: Shers stil1 there. Eileen's st111 there.

lUnclear] I have no idea [unclear]. He works for the city.

RF: Eileen O'Leary is still there.

DC: Her husband was a fireman.

JC: Oh, yes. "Honey tf And next door to her

HM: But theytre not there anymore. Lorenzo?

aff - \1^
tJL- - t\Ll

On the other side?

Julie "Sweeton's" gone, right?

Who did Dennis? Yannone. Her mother's

Iadds later: Laura Storman] still

HM

DC

JC

o

DC: She just died.
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JC: No. He married the daughter.

DC: Oh, yes. Yes.

JC: You know them. "Stormin." They're in your

block. She lives a1one.

RF: Terrace No. 2? Let's see

HM: You're talking on the other side of the

streeL, not next to "Honey. "

DC: Then another guy, down the block, whom I

met I have him a price on the paint job he g::ew up in

the Terrace, and just moved back.

Who's that?

It's on your side of the street, down the

block, like five from the corner, maybe.

HM

UL-

O

RF: Right. Brown stucco hou.se?
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o

DC: Yes, just renovated. I can't thlnk of his

name.

RF: Itts an frish name.

DC: But. he knew me, and I was like

RF: He so::t of inherited the house from **

HM: Oh, I know who you're t.alking about. Is

this the guy who had the still on hls side? lCross talk]

RF; I'm looking out on my curb, and there's

like a stilI [cross talk].

We might be talking about two different

families, but the stil1 was being thr:own out from one of the

Terrace houses, and he had just inherit-ed it.

JC: On your side, or the other side?

RF: On the other slde, in about the middle of

the block. I'd look out the window, f'm running out f 've

a

put it in my car, and then I see wher:e it's coming from, so
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I follow him in. He said, "Oh, y€s, my uncle had a stlll up

in the attic. " The attic was unfinished. It was a pretty

elaborate still. It wasn't super big, but it had a 1ot of

[unc]earl to it. By the end of the afternoon I had the

enti-re still [unclear] .

JC : I think lhat ' s Jackie O' Sul-livanJ' s

house. They're in the middle, on the and hls sister had a

big family.

RF: It was the wildest thinq. This was like

maybe four or five years ago"

JC: Do you remember Jack fUnclear] ?

RF: I don't think I do.

JC: His brother was a fireman who worked

there. Three brothers lived in the house. You had to know

them. No?

a

English.

RF: You mentioned the name English Jlm
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JC: Jimmy, yes

RF: I don't know too much about him. He

inherited it from his family? That's his family's house?

lCross talkl On the end?

JC: Jimmy's father came here from lreland,

and was a boarder with my grandmother. They were marri-ed out

of my grandmother's house -* 250 Sixth Street. And my mother

got them the house in the Terrace, which they were lookinE

for. I think my mother "stood" for more people to be

citizens. Jimmy -* I can't get over the size of him. What is

wrong with him?

RF': Oh, yes. WeIl, I thj-nk he's gCIt a lot of

health problems. He goes around in a mobile Iunclear] .

JC: I went to school with him, too. We went

to St. Clare's.

RF: Yes, but

JC: But Jackie O in the middle of the

a

Iunclear], Jackie O'Sul1ivan he was crossing V(ashington



a
Cunning-1-116

o

o

o

o

a

o

a

o

Street, fe1l i-n a hole, they took him up to the medical

center, and he was out, in a coma, for f dontt know how

Iong. ,foaneileen was working for what the hell?

DC: She's a social worker.

JC: He had nothing on him, and Joan cal-l-ed me

and said, "Mom, I think Jackie O's up here in the medical

center, " So I called Kenny Murphy up. Kenny Murphy goes up/

and it's Jackie O.

HM: Oh. So they didn't know who he was.

JC: No. And we called his sister, who's been

looking for him, and looking for him. It's funny. She

wouldn't be in his circle of friends just a neighbor

and they found him. It was really something.

But I could see them with a stil-l! [Laughter]

ICross talk]

o JC: My father,

but, he never played a number.

O'Sullivan was taking numbers.

Jack, he had his beer and all,

lfe were at a party, and Mrs.

She was t-aking numbers. Oh,

a
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yes. She's done that for years. But that wouldn't be allowed

to be said in my house.

RF: Then we'd always hear stories about the

Terrace, llke when a house is for sa1e, very often it would

that true?just go to someone else on the block. Is

JC: My si-ster went to a bidding war on the

house, and they didn't know each other, and lt was Eddie

"Dunfy" that died. He was blind. He had a whole family. My

sister outbid the person. It wound up [being] Irene Lavin.

They were all friends of the family. Virginia

they had

got the house

for like $100 more, or something, But

-- but as long as

no idea they

were l:idding against you knew someone was

selling the house, you'd

RF: Would you go through a real estate agent

o

to do that? Or would it just kind of be

and he dropped dead

it. She lived there,

2

o
JC: My house a woman fMiss Cooper] came

with her mother from New York City. Her father was a barber,

and never saw the house. Never lived in

and lived there, uirtil there was no

a

money 1eft. Her mother died. So my mother bought the hoi-rse
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off her, and let her stay until she had no money, and made

all the arrangements with the al-ms house in Secaucus

which was run very nice at the time. That's how my mother

got t.he house that I bought off my moLher.

We'd go up once a week and get a whole list

of what she wanled, and we'd bring it up. My father would

drive us up. f didn't drive until I was twenty*five years

ol-d. G.1r1s didn't drive then. But that's how you qot a house

in the Terrace. Gracie Earl's qrandmother got the first one,

then her aunt qot the next one, and Margie Duff moved across

the streeL. They all everybody --

RF: You had a lit.tle network,

JC: Well, it keeps the place ni.ce.

RF: A1so, your neighbors are your friends.

Icross talk].

HM: Exactly. I was just going t-o say it

means that you're around people that you get along with.

DC: We never had a key to the house, growing

o

a

up.
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JC: Never

RFr How long did you operate that way?

JC: When Eddie died, we locked the doors at

night. But other than that

RF: Sr: into the 1980s?

DC: Yes, until 1989. Absolutely.

it until she

JC: My molher ** f don't think they ever had

was selling the house. Maybe when she did the

they had the key.house over,

HM: Then people were watching, too. Right?

JC: You'd open the door, and you'd say/

for me."Helen?" Or they'd come to my house, looking

RF: The houses were originally brick. Then

o

they all seem to have gotten stucco*ed. What was t.hat about?
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,JC: There is a thing that we were granted *-

historic -- but only from the county, or the city, or

somethlng. They broke a 1ot of ru1es. Even us. We put the

vestibule in. But we did have -- before we had sheds that

came down.

Rtr: Like an awning. a wooden awnJ-ng

DC: Over two doors, and then there was a

stoop.

RF: For supports.

.lC: That corner on Clinton Street is

ridiculous. That is ridiculous. Who approved that?

so on. ft's

district, so

their house.

RF: Well, this gets into whatrs historlc, and

actually, technically not withln the historic

anyone can do what they want to t.he outside of

o

DC: That part that leans out is awful. You

look up, and you think you get dizz,y for a second. It's

O

awful.
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RF; Like Anthony and Sasha, who live in that

one house *- hers an architect., so that's his vision. He

really needed one small variance, because he was expandlng

his deck or somethi-ng. But other than that, it's not

protect.ed. He can do a modern house. He can do stainless, he

can do anything.

JC: When I built out, the woman next door

fought me and fought me, because she had a little window.

RE: I keep

stores would have been in

Willow Terrace?

thinking of more things. What

that little area, ri-ght around

JC: Tony's candy store. I worked aft.er

school. That was 671.

On Willow or Clinton.

Where Peqgy "Tangermin" lived. Willow.

RF

UL-

DC

o

The one that was the bar | 606?
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a

o

JC: Opposite, but over a llttle bit. I think

611 was the candy store.

DC: And the other corner was Ralph's, across

from Bill's corner.

JC: But then we had one right here on Sixth

Street, where the lawyer's are, or what are they? Travel

agents? Right here? That was Morley's candy store.

HM: A 1ot of candy stores. Because three were

a lot of kids. [cross talk]

JC: lAndl Rocco's liquor

StreeLl . They came from Ca::1stadt, and

store, IClinton

to us they were like

didn't use, andfarmers. They wore jeans and boots, that we

my slster married one of t-hem. [Laughs] I

mother saying, "What the hell's wrongi with

can remember my

that guy? Tell

Jeans were the workmen's unlform.

him to come here dressed. " And he did. llaughterl

HM

LIL

o

a

They were farmers, out there.
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RF: But on Will-ow Avenue some other

stores? The east side of the street?

DC: Ralph's candy store.

JC: Yes. And we had the shoemaker on the

corner of our Terrace

DC: And "Mr. L", too. The barber.

RF: On Seventh.

HM: No. On Wi11ow, 613.

RF: On Willow. Excuse me. [Cross talk] Do you

remember thinqs about the Griffin family? They were

apparently kind of characters -- where we live. lCross talk,

unclearl

JC: She had an alligator or something in the

tub. Yeah. They had to come out and get it. It was a biga

o

thlng.
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o

o

of that.

and she was the second wife.

alllgator out.

eventually, the bathtub.

RF: What's the story of that. 1 never heard

HM: Antoinette. She was this little thing,

RF: Let her tell the alliqator story.

JC: They actually had to come in and take the

HM; After he had already died?

JC: He was dead.

DC: But she had him in a fish tank, and then,

o

JC: And into the tub, she had LL, in the end,

and they had to come and get it

HM: It got too big.

o

RF: Someone complained?
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JC: Yes. They had to come in, and get people

to pick up an alligator -

DC: I think she couldn't feed it anymore or

something.

HM: She was smalI. It probably was

threatening her

RF: She was a character, right?

JC: He never came out.. What did he do in that

store? Was it keys?

HM: And also quns. Originally gun$.

RF: Apparently, he wanted to be a pollceman,

and he used to collect guns.

HM: But also, he was a )azz musician. He

played, had all these cards from different bands as a

young man.

o
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RF: He was a locksmith.

JC: We didn't need him in the terrace"

[Laughter] That's why I don't know him.

RF: But she was a crossing guard here. [Cross

talkl We have a picture in our'70s book of her.

DC: I remember her cursing in German or

something.

RF: French.

DC: Right, When she would get excited, she

would be cursing in

RF: She was a traffic crossing gua::d which

reminds me of another traffic crossing guard.

o

JC: Oh, my

with her. She ties up Lhe

god. We got one that takes her dog

dog while she does traffic.

DC: We have one on Second and Monroe. We come

a

down there with the lights and sirens, and she l-ooks at us
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like "Move the cones. Move the traffic. Move the cones.tt

llaughter] So now f just say, "Take out the cones. Take out

the cones.ff You run over the cones llaughter]. Some of them

are great. They see you coming, they'11 stop traffic and

wave, and tel} everybody to wait, like a normaL person. The

rest wil-l just stare. iCross talk, laughterl I want no part

of this.

RF: But y€s, Mrs. Grif f in, everiy time we'd

hear sornething

JC: When you say "Griffin, " f think of the

Griffins on our Terrace, who were wonderful people. ICross

talkl

DC: They were like well-dressed gentlemen

Nice people,

JC: IThe other Griffins] They were stranqe, I

have to ask Mary Pendrick about that.

HM: About the alligator. I love that story. I

o

o

o

never heard that one.
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JC: f know when Reynolds lived there she

was on my Terrace, but she rented the one by Jimmy English.

And, god, I put that in for her" And you had to slide out

the door, and slide in. There was about this much room. Mrs.

Reynolds. It's funny. Her son retired, and Cathy Daniels

signed them out. She said, "It's at Wil}ow Terrace." She

said, "You know the Cunnings?" He said, "Yes, I know the

Cunnings. "

She came in, she was a teacher from Hunter

College. Her boys were all raised, all nice, wonderful jobs.

She came to t.he Terrace. But she was losing it. I would go

over, when f would see the door open, and call he::. I called

the son a few times. She would always say, "Take my car,

Joan." He said, "Take her car every day, so she don't drive

it. " ILaughs]

DC: Nice 1ady.

JC: Kathy Canning j-s still there. You have to

know her. She lives alone. She's about the third or fourth

house off Clinton, on Seventh. Her sister is Veronica, who

lives across the street, ofl Willow Avenue, and babysl-ts all

a

o

the time? You don't know her?
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RF: No. See, 1 just go out of my house, and

I'm gone. ICross talk]

JC: WelI, they were raised in the first

Terrace. But she has got, to bre in her late eighties.

RE: La Russo had a place [cross talk] on

Seventh. I don't know too many people on Seventh Street.

HM: V0e11, we did,. but they moved. [Cross

talkl

JC: I thlnk they're all from Mayo -* the

Mclaughlins who were in the second Terrace, and the Gills.

Irene you know who f mean. The jerky kid that was hanging

around. It wasn't his house, though. One was Irishman of Lhe

year. Gill. Marty Gi1l. And next door is

DC: English.
,

D

D

JC: But Engllsh is the next one.
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HM: I think theyrre al-I new people, except

for English.

rJC: No" The first five houses up theyr re

there forever. English, Keegian, and Gill.

HM: From Willow, or from the Clinton sj-de?

JC: From the Clinton side. Right up the road

here. And Kathy Cannon, " f thj-nk, is the fourth or fifth

house. They're there forever.

FiM: f rm sure. You don't see any changes

there. I don't know them, though.

wouldn't

apartment

name, but

RF: ft just recently dawned on me I

know Mr. McCourt, senj-or. but his son lives in the

building on the 600 I don't even know his f irsl:

I see him all the time. I didn't connect the dots.

ICross talk]

JC: His son just played the lead in that

play, "shampoor " and he was fantasti-c, Iadds later: Kevin]

o
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RF: Oh, really. f met his son.

JC: But, like, to me they were new 1n the

Terrace. [Laughter, cross talk]

DC: ?here was a "band" in their house when we

were growing up.

JC: Yes, The "Hol-landers. "

DC: The two houses next door were abandoned,

and towards the end of the Terrace, there were two

abandoned, for years.

RF: Oh, Cameron.

JC: They had son, and he left them and the

house. They

out and did

were the cleanest

their sidewalks.

The Hollanders camepeople

We had quite a

out, and

few there, maybe

i.t was afour or five. They took the father

disqrace. I was pregnant with

Board of Health. I said, "This

somebody, and I called the

is it. They can't even feed

o

Lhemselves." Mrs. Duff would bring in stuff.
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They took him out. He was in [unclear] first

open, it was. We went into the wake. He said, "Well, Mom

will be here tomorrow." I said, "Oh. She's going to be able

to come?" She died. Then he just let the house go, and it

was fu1l of roaches and funclear] . Mrs. Duff was going crazy

with 1t. And the "Swift's" house that was never dirty.

That was the next house. And the "cop" bought. it,

DC: Duke McCourt.

No.

Oh. Jimmy Mancuso.

No,

V{hen Duke McCourt got the house, it was

at Iunclear] like a brand*new house.abandoned. They got it

JC: Right. But next door was the "cop" he

died on a motorcycle.

o

DC:

JC:

DC:

o

DC: Oh. Buddy Ske1ley.
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JC: Buddy Skel-ley" He did that house over

beautlfu-l-. And they have cellars in those houses. You can go

down. It's al-} slate down there. [Cross talk] Seventeen had

that.

RF: Of course, they take water on, too.

lCross talkl

JC: She dug deep" We had an argument out in

t.he street. She said, rrlrm making that a play room." I said,

"You're maki-ng

there are still

it a swlmming pool. " But the cobblestones

had, constantly,

from the water coming *- three pumps they

out the back, out the front. T mean, come

onl

HM: ftrs right at the water line,

JC: We did the house over. The first time we

did it, we put the heat down in the celIar, and my husband

tormented me. He cal1ed me every time it rained: "Open the

trap doors." f'd say, "Okay, Eddie." I didn't open that trap

door, What was I going to do, if there was water there?

a

RF: Like, what's down there. lCross talkl
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JC: When we "raised" the house, rTlv father

wouldn't -Iet us take the gutters out. They were just doing

that, you know. "We11, the house will fall down. " So we lost

that much space. They're doing my house over, though. Did

you see?

RF: f know. I was just going to say I thought

'Lhat was the case.

JC: Well, ily nephew bouqht my house. Of

course, he was sure f would want to come back. So we just

recently -- about three years ago he sold the house. He

cal-led me up and he said, rrJ 'm selling the house, Aunt

Joanie, okay?" I said, "Yeah, but I want half of anything

you don't want. You pay me." [Laughter] So she called me

back and (shers funny), "Hey, You're not getting nothin'."

flaughter] f said, rII' 11 get even. " It was a ioke. But he

really kept it for me. I thought that was so nice.

RF: I'm confused. You're saying

a
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JC: My nephew bought my house [cross talk]

Billy Thiel. The candy store. He was sure I'd come back.

lCross talkl

RF: I remember when you moved it was like a

big deal. Like, "Huy, the Cunnings are moving from the

Terrace. It's going to hell-. " ICross talk]

JC: Everybody who sold, it was a secret. I

thought that was terrible. I told them I was leaving.

HM: Why would it be a secret?

JC: Because of these crazy peoplel Who cares

if you move?

HM: Exactly.

JC: f can remember her coming over, cryl-ng.

"f didn't want to tell you, but my brother sold the house."

And I'm l1ke, 'f Lou, wonderful, you have money." I spent

every dime I got; they didn't.

o
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HM: Maybe that's what it is. They think

people will be envj-ous, or think that they made out like

bandits or something. Right? I don't know why you would hide

ir

JC: And people liked to tell me, "You know

what you could get now?" l said, "f lived there, I had a

wonderful l1fe, and I donrt care.rl

HM: This is the story that everybody telIs.

DC: You moved because you couldn't afford it.

Your taxes were $5,000 $7, ooo.

the house. Every timeJC: I had a mortgage on

we paid the mortgager we dld something

beach. Now our beach is no more. We're

ef se. V[e did the

the last of the

bungalows. Eddie did them all over. Eddie got seven houses

down there now

RF: And where is that?

o

Middletown

DC: It was East Kean.sburg. Now it's
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RF: Oh. Right

DC: It's forty-five minutes from here.

JC: We have our own pool. And everybody knows

us.

RF: You have your own Terrace down there. You

donrt go for the whole summer though, do you?

JC: Sure we do

RF: You do. I didn't know that.

JC: I got to breakfast every day with my son,

except Saturday, Sunday, and Monday, his wife's off. ft's a

big joke. "Oh, is she there. " [Laughter]

HM: You're not going to share him.

JC: We live back to back, with big yards.

Over here he has four houses, and if you keep them nice, you

can keep the bl-ock nice.

o

a
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RF: Does he live down there ful1 time?

JC: Yes, yes

RF; I remember when he moved out, everyone

sald, "Oh, yeahI"

HM: They're deserting.

JC: WeII, they didn't give up the apartment

for a long time.

one left.

Well, his two aons were here. Now there's

We like it. And his daughter doesn't like

coming to Hoboken. f say, "What is wrong with you?" But she

went to high school there. They moved when she went to high

school.

HM

DC

Soon, she'll want to be here.

ftrs funny. When they're twenty-one, you

a

a

a

see a lot of them

HM: Exactly.
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JC: Three of them are twenty*one this summer.

Iadds later: Mary, Katie, John]

DC: Our daughter and Eddiets daughter

Iunclear] .

JC: $he's the first, and John.

HM: My brother used t<:

Iiving here. Now his son is dating a

and his best friend lives in Hoboken.

to call it "Houseb::oken. "

ago -- we went

guide, b,ecause

that's what they wanted. We had a privai-e

"That girl's American, " and he sai-d, "No,

here. " So she said, "Where are you from?"

girl from Jersey

ICross talk] He

JC: In Rome, a couple months ago a month

into a store, and we had to hire our own

we dldn I t want to be I

make fun of me for

City,

used

don't know why, but

gulde. I said,

Only Italians work

and we said, "New

Jersey. " "Me, too, " she said. "I live --'r I forget where she

a

,

said she lived. So Jane said, "My sister-ln-law lives

there." She said, "What's her name." What the hell is her

,

name ?
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DC: Angela's sister-in-1aw? I canrt think of

it. IUnclear]

JC: And does she have another sister, this

here? They lived next door to each other. They went. all

through school together.

HM: f love it.

JC: This girl went to Rome to study, came

home, came back and married a guy.

HM: Usually thatts the joke like you're

with the cab drlver, and he knows one person from your town,

and Iunclear].

JC: I know when we were in Aruba, w€ were

sitting with two women, my girlfriend and 1, and they were

from Buffalo. I sai-d, "Oh, my family's from Buffalo, My

uncle " Their name js Smith." And I laughed. I said, "1

guess you know 100 Smiths. She said, "No, only one Father

Arthur. " I sal-d, "My cousin. " ILaughter] She said, t'What I?"

It's funny. But everybody has a kj-d who lives in Hoboken, I

don't care where you go.

O

o

o
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HM: It sure seems that. way.

RF: Okay. This was fun.
a

IEnd of fnterview]

o




